



Overview of IBM Workplace Forms

First Edition (November 2005)

This edition applies to version 2.5 of IBM[®] Workplace Forms[™].

© Copyright International Business Machines Corporation 2005. All rights reserved.

US Government Users Restricted Rights — Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
ABOUT IBM WORKPLACE FORMS	1
CREATING A FORM	2
FILLING OUT A FORM	3
RICH CLIENT SOLUTION	
Expanding the Functionality of Workplace Forms Viewer	
Distributing Workplace Forms Viewer to Your Users	
ZERO FOOTPRINT SOLUTION	5
INTEGRATING FORMS WITH OTHER PROCESSES	5
SAMPLE WORKPLACE FORMS APPLICATIONS	6
DETAILED SAMPLE SOLUTION	6
Choosing the Tools	
Creating a New Policy	
Filing a Claim	
Other Sample Solutions	9
Government Program Registration	
Banking and Regulated Industries	
Secured Communications	
GETTING MORE INFORMATION	11
NOTICES	13

Introduction

The IBM[®] Workplace Forms[™] suite includes the following products:

- IBM Workplace Forms Viewer
- IBM Workplace Forms Designer
- IBM Workplace Forms Server

Together, these tools allow you to create, fill, and submit forms, and integrate those forms with your back-end processes.

This document explains how the Workplace Forms tools work together to make each function possible, and how you can use the tools to create an end-to-end solution. Finally, this document includes an example of how the Workplace Forms products can be used to create a real-world application.

About IBM Workplace Forms

Paper forms are perhaps the most common front end for any business process. They are typically used to gather information from a user, which in turn starts a particular business process. For example, one of your customers might fill out a paper form to open a new account. Once that form is completed and passed to the correct department, the process of creating that account begins.

In the same way, IBM Workplace Forms can provide the front end for an organization's electronic processes. For example, consider moving the same 'new account' process to the Internet. In this case, your users might log on to a web site to create a new account. Once on the web site, they still need to provide information about themselves. Using the



Workplace Forms tools, you can easily create an electronic form that will capture this information. Once the user submits the form, you need to get the information from the form into your business process. Again, the Workplace Forms tools make this possible. Using the Server product, you can capture the information from the form and pass it to your existing systems, be they workflow applications (such as WebSphere® Business Integration), database applications (such as DB2® Universal Database or DB2 Content Manager), or some other electronic process.

Integration is also simplified by the nature of the forms themselves. Workplace Forms are written in an XML syntax called XFDL (eXtensible Forms Description Language). Each form is a single XML file that contains both the description of the form and the data the user has entered. Because it is XML, it's easy to integrate with other XML-based processes, and because it's a single file, it's easy to move a form through your systems.

Creating a Form

IBM Workplace Forms Designer provides a drag-and-drop environment for creating forms. Once created, each form is saved as a single XML file. Most commonly, you will then place your forms on a central server, such as a corporate web server, for distribution. However, because the files are easy to manage, you can also distribute them directly to your users through email or some other system.

Workplace Forms Designer is similar to a graphic design or paint program. You begin with a blank page, then design a form by placing items on that page. For example, you might add a number of labels and fields to a form to create an address block

Once the basic items are in place, you can edit each item to add special features and logic. For instance, you might want to limit input on the ZIP Code field so that the user can only enter numbers, or you might want to limit the user's choices by creating a Country drop-down list that only includes five selections.

As a final step, you can clean up your design. Workplace Forms Designer allows you to control the placement of all items on the form with pixel-by-pixel precision.



As an alternative to designing a form from scratch, you can also import a scanned image of any paper form into

Workplace Forms Designer. You can then design your form over top of the scanned image, allowing you to effectively 'trace' the paper form and create a very precise electronic copy.

Finally, there are third party tools available that can help to convert existing electronic forms to the Workplace FormsTM format. This is particularly valuable if you have a customer who is migrating from a different forms platform, and has an extensive library of electronic forms that are already in use.



Filling Out a Form

There are two solutions for filling out forms:

- Rich Client Solution IBM Workplace Forms Viewer is a rich client that you must install on every desktop. It allows users to complete and submit forms on or offline, and provides more functionality than the zero-footprint solution.
- Zero Footprint Solution IBM Workplace Forms Server Webform Server is a zero footprint solution. It allows users to complete and submit forms in a regular web browser without installing any additional software. However, Webform Server requires the user to stay connected to the web, and does not support all of the features of the rich client.

Rich Client Solution

IBM Workplace Forms Viewer is a rich client that allows users to open, complete, and submit forms. It is generally the best solution if you are working with complex forms that contain a lot of logic, or if your users need to work with forms offline.

In a typical scenario, the user goes to a web site and clicks a link to request a form that is stored on a central server. When the form is sent to the user, Workplace Forms Viewer will automatically open as a browser plugin, and the user can then complete the form and submit it back to the server.

Because Workplace Forms Viewer is a rich client, it not only supports all of the advanced features available, such as complex logic and signatures, but it also processes all logic on the client side. This means that users can work offline.

Once a form is open, the user no longer needs an active connection to the web. They can fill out the form at their leisure, and can even save it to their hard drive so they can work with it later. Once they have



completed the form, they can reconnect to the web and submit the form for processing.

Additionally, you can create extensions that expand the functionality of Workplace Forms Viewer. For example, you might need to perform extremely complex calculations that are not easily supported by the internal logic of the form, or you might want to encrypt each form before it is submitted. You can add functionality like this to Workplace Forms Viewer by creating extensions (for more information, see "Expanding the Functionality of Workplace Forms Viewer" below).

As with all rich client solutions, Workplace Forms Viewer must be installed on every desktop. This means that all of your users must have access to Workplace Forms Viewer install package. While this can often be a barrier to entry, you can use IBM Workplace Forms Server — Deployment Server to distribute Workplace Forms Viewer to your users through a simple web interface (for more information, see "Distributing Workplace Forms Viewer to Your Users" below).

Expanding the Functionality of Workplace Forms Viewer

In some cases, the logic system supported by Workplace Forms may not be sophisticated enough to do what you need. In these cases, you can expand the functionality of Workplace Forms Viewer by writing an extension. An extension is similar to a browser plug-in — it simply plugs in to Workplace Forms Viewer to extend the functionality of your forms.

To write an extension, you use IBM Workplace Forms Server — API. The API provides a toolkit that lets you program your own 'form functions' in either a C or Java development environment. You can then call these 'form functions' from within your forms as though they were part of the normal logic system.



Distributing Workplace Forms Viewer to Your Users

IBM Workplace Forms Server — Deployment Server offers an easy way to distribute Workplace Forms Viewer to your users. Using the Deployment Server, you can create a web site that will automatically download Workplace Forms Viewer to anybody viewing the site. This means that your users can simply go to an 'Install'

page on your corporate web site and watch as Workplace Forms Viewer is installed on their computer.

Deployment Server can also check to ensure that users have the latest copy of Workplace Forms Viewer. When a user opens the distribution page, Deployment Server will check their system to see what they have installed, and will update their installation if required. This makes it simple to keep everybody up to date.



Zero Footprint Solution

IBM Workplace Forms Server — Webform Server is a zero footprint solution that allows users to open, complete, and submit forms using only a web browser. Webform Server is generally the best solution if your forms contain little logic and you need to distribute them to a large user base, such as the general public.

In a typical scenario, the user goes to a web site and clicks a link to request a form. Webform Server then translates that form into a collection of HTML and Javascript, and sends that information to the user's web browser. The browser then displays the translated HTML form to the user, who can then complete the form and submit it back to the server.



Because Webform Server is a zero footprint solution, not all of the logic in a form can be processed on the

client side. While the form that is sent to the user can perform some simple calculations, there are many things it can't do without help from the server. Because of this, the user's web browser will also make calls back to the server when required. This means that the user cannot work with the form offline. Instead, they must remain connected to the web while they complete the form.

However, users can still save forms to their local computer. Furthermore, each form is saved as a single XFDL file, rather than a collection of HTML and javascript. This allows users to save work in progress, or to route forms to other people – a marked advantage over typical HTML forms.

Furthermore, Webform Server does not support some features that may be required in your forms, such as digital signatures, nor does Webform Server support the use of Workplace Forms Viewer extensions.

Integrating Forms with other Processes

IBM Workplace Forms Server - API is the primary tool for integrating forms with your other processes. The API is a fully-featured development kit that allows you to write server-side code that can parse and change forms.

The API is typically used to write a servlet (or portlet) that receives forms from users and processes those forms appropriately. For instance, when a user submits a 'new account' form, you may want to process it as follows:

- Save the original application in a database as a permanent record.
- Parse the form to extract the user data.
- Write the data to a file in a particular XML format.

Pass the new XML file to your workflow process.



Using the API, you can write a servlet that does all of these things. The servlet can also include other libraries as necessary. For example, you might use the JDBC library to create the connection to your database and add the form to the correct table.

Serlets and portlets that use the API can be hosted by a variety of applications. For instance, you can use WebSphere Application Server for to host servlets or WebSphere Portal Server to host portlets.

Sample Workplace Forms Applications

The IBM Workplace Forms toolset is extremely flexible and infinitely adaptable. This means that there are literally an endless number of solutions you can build using Workplace Forms.

This section provides a detailed discussion of one such solution, and then presents short summaries of some other possible solutions.

Detailed Sample Solution

Acme Insurance focuses on auto insurance, and wants to move to a completely electronic process for creating insurance policies and filing claims against those policies. By moving to a web-based solution, Acme Insurance plans to eliminate the data entry costs associated with their current paper process, and also to improve their response time when a claim is filed.

Choosing the Tools

Acme Insurance wants their agents to complete all forms on behalf of their customers. This means that they are serving a 'closed' audience (their insurance professionals) who will have training in the new system.

Additionally, Acme Insurance wants to use digital signatures to verify the identity of each agent when a policy or claim is filed.

Because Acme wants to use digital signatures, and because they have a controlled internal audience, they have chosen to use the rich client Viewer. In order to simplify the distribution and maintenance of Workplace Forms Viewer, they have also decided to set up a distribution page on their corporate web site that will host the Deployment Server. This allows their agents to



automatically install Workplace Forms Viewer, and to check for updates to the software whenever they like.

Acme has decided to design their own forms using Workplace Forms Designer, and to host those forms on their corporate web site through their Auto Insurance portal. This means that access to the forms will be controlled by their portal software, which is already set up with the appropriate IDs and passwords.

Acme already has a workflow that is accessed through their portal, but that process currently relies on the manual entry of paper forms before processing can begin. To replace this, they have decided to implement a servlet. This servlet receives form submissions, parses the form to verify all signatures, and then passes the form to the workflow process. The workflow then routes the form as required, and stores the form in the database between each step.



Given this architecture, Acme needs to use the following Workplace Forms products:

- IBM Workplace Forms Viewer
- IBM Workplace Forms Designer
- IBM Workplace Forms Server API
- IBM Workplace Forms Server Deployment Server

Creating a New Policy

When a customer wants to create a new policy, the following process is followed:

- 1. An Acme agent logs onto the portal site, opens a list of 'template forms', and opens the New Policy form.
- 2. The agent completes the form on behalf of the customer, signs it using a digital certificate, and submits it for processing.
- **3.** The forms servlet receives the form, verifies the agent's signature, and passes the form to a workflow (such as WBI).
- 4. The workflow stores the form in a database (such as DB2 or CM), and then sends the form to an adjustor for approval.
- 5. The adjustor checks their list of 'in process' forms in the portal, opens the form that was filed by the agent, and reviews the application. At this time, the adjustor can add information to the form or change the information provided by the agent. The adjustor then approves or denies the application, signs the form, and submits it for final processing.
- **6.** The forms servlet receives the form, verifies both the agent's and the adjustor's signatures, and passes the form to the workflow.
- 7. The workflow updates the form in the database, and then sends the form to the original agent.
- **8.** The agent checks their list of 'processed forms' in the portal, opens the completed form, and calls the customer to tell them the results of their application.

Filing a Claim

When a customer wants to file a claim against their policy, the following process is followed:

- 1. An Acme agent logs onto the portal site, opens a list of 'template forms', and opens the New Claim form.
- 2. The agent completes the claim form on behalf of the customer, signs it using a digital certificate, and submits it for processing.

- **3.** The forms servlet receives the form, verifies the agent's signature, and passes the form to a workflow (such as WBI).
- 4. The workflow stores the form in a database (such as DB2 or CM), and then sends the form to an adjustor for investigation.
- 5. The adjustor checks their list of 'in process' forms in the portal, and opens the form that was filed by the agent. The adjustor then investigates the accident. During this time, the adjustor can add information about the accident to the form, including additional documents, pictures, and even video clips. Once finished the investigation, the adjustor signs the forms and submits it for processing.
- 6. The forms servlet receives the form, verifies both the agent's and the adjustor's signatures, and passes the form to the workflow.
- 7. The workflow updates the form in the database, then examines the value of the claim. If the claim is large, the workflow sends the form to a manager for approval (step 8). Otherwise, the form is returned to the original agent (step 11).
- 8. The manager checks their list of 'form waiting approval' in the portal, opens the form the adjustor just filed, and examines the adjustor's work. The manager can add information to the form, then sign it and submit it for processing.
- **9.** The forms portlet receives the form, verifies all three signatures (agent, adjustor, and manger), and passes the form to the workflow.
- 10. The workflow updates the form in the database, then forwards it to the original agent.
- **11.** The original agent checks their list of 'processed forms' in the portal, opens the completed form, and calls the customer to tell them the results of their claim.

Other Sample Solutions

The flexibility of the IBM Workplace Forms tools allow you to create solutions for almost any form-based process. The following summaries discuss some other possible solutions that you can create using these tools.

Government Program Registration

Government agencies often need to enroll the general public in a variety of programs. In these cases, the government is trying to serve a large and diverse population, with various levels of computer knowledge and Internet connectivity.

The Webform Server component of the Workplace Forms suite offers the perfect solution for these situations. Users can log onto a central web site and complete a registration form using only their web browser. This saves them from having to download and install Workplace Forms Viewer, which can be intimidating for some users and time consuming over low bandwidths.

Additionally, while it's not possible to issue a digital certificate to each citizen, you can use Clickwrap signatures to capture some information about the user and confirm their approval. Clickwrap signatures simulate the "click to accept" process that is common on many web sites today, and add a measure of security to the form. They can also can include information about the user, such as a pass phrase, that you can use later to identify them.

Banking and Regulated Industries

Banking and other regulated industries must comply with a variety of government regulations, and must be able to produce reliable audit trails to demonstrate their compliance. In these cases, records must be maintained for many years, and those records must be secure.

The Workplace Forms tools support a wide range of digital signature technologies. Once a form is signed, the signature makes the form tamper evident. This means that if any of the information in the form is changed, the signature itself breaks, indicating that it can no longer be trusted. Furthermore, most digital signature technologies reliably identify the signer. These features combine to create reliable records: you can reliably identify who signed each form, and you can easily judge whether the form has been changed in any way.

Additionally, the forms themselves are written to comply with open standards. This means that they are never locked into a proprietary format that is dependent on the original company's survival. No matter how much time passes, you will always be able to recover your data because you will always be able to refer to the open standard that it conforms to.

Secured Communications

Some organizations may require more than just signatures to secure their forms. This is sometimes the case due to privacy laws or other legal requirements that insist that the forms themselves cannot be viewed by other people. In these cases, signature technology falls short, because while it will reveal tampering with a form, it does not prevent simple viewing.

Using the API, you can create an extension for Workplace Forms Viewer that will encrypt each form before it is sent. The server that processes the forms can then use the API to decrypt the form once it is safely behind a firewall.

The form is encrypted before it leaves the user's computer. If it is intercepted during transmission, or copied from a public server, it will be completely unreadable. However, once it is safely behind a firewall, it can be decrypted and processed with ease.

Getting More Information

For more information about the Workplace Forms products, refer to the IBM Publications Center at:

http://www.elink.ibmlink.ibm.com/public/applications/publications/cgibin/pbi.cgi

This site contains complete reference documentation for the Workplace Forms products.

Notices

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user' responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law:

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION " IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Licensees of this program who wish to have information about it for the purpose of enabling: (i) the exchange of information between independently created programs and other programs (including this one) and (ii) the mutual use of the information which has been exchanged, should contact:

IBM Corporation Office 4360 One Rogers Street Cambridge, MA 02142 U.S.A.

Such information may be available, subject to appropriate terms and conditions, including in some cases, payment of a fee.

The licensed program described in this information and all licensed material available for it are provided by IBM under terms of the IBM Customer Agreement, IBM International Program License Agreement, or any equivalent agreement between us.

Any performance data contained herein was determined in a controlled environment. Therefore, the results obtained in other operating environments may vary significantly. Some measurements may have been made on development-level systems and there is no guarantee that these measurements will be the same on generally available systems. Furthermore, some measurements may have been estimated through extrapolation. Actual results may vary. Users of this document should verify the applicable data for their specific environment.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

All statements regarding IBM's future direction or intent are subject to change or withdrawal without notice, and represent goals and objectives only.

All IBM prices shown are IBM's suggested retail prices, are current and are subject to change without notice. Dealer prices may vary.

This information is for planning purposes only. The information herein is subject to change before the products described become available.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

Trademarks

IBM, the IBM logo, Workplace Forms, DB2, and WebSphere are trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both:

Java and all Java-based trademarks are trademarks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both.

Other company, product, or service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.